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INTRODUCTION

			From the translator

			A thankfully brief and succinct

			introduction to the work

			by James Coverley.

		

		

		
			The Twelve Caesars, or On the Life of the Caesars, or The Lives of the Twelve Caesars or De Vita Caesarum has had, as you can probably tell, an awful lot of titles over the past two thousand years and mostly because it sounds cool and as I have to call it something, I’ve landed on The Twelve Caesars. One could call it almost anything one likes because even the title is uncertain, and Suetonius’ own views on his most famous work are lost. It originally had an introduction and a dedication, but these are long lost. What remains is a set of twelve biographies of Julius Caesar and the first eleven emperors of the Roman Empire written in, probably, AD 121 during the reign of the emperor Hadrian, for whom Suetonius worked as a personal secretary. It’s dedicated to his friend, the Praetorian prefect Gaius Septicius Clarus. 

			The work is sometimes risqué, wildly shocking, rammed full of elbow-nudging, winking, pearl-clutching gossip, and swooning drama, rude language plus a healthy dose of humour. Unlike other, more straight-laced historians such as Tacitus, Suetonius seems to be writing less of an annalistic guide to the lives of the emperors and more of a tabloid expose of the juicier details of the lives of the famous. 

			All Roman history is, ultimately, just a series of “What the Emperor Did” articles, and Suetonius boils this down to the constituent parts of the sort of details that excite the rather more base instincts in his readers. That might sound like a terrible slight on both you, the reader, and him, but what he gives us is a hugely accessible and entertaining journey through the lifestyles of the rich and famous, Roman style. His position at the heart of the imperial court gave him access to the state records, and throughout the book, he tells us about documents he has read in person and which are written in the handwriting of those he covers. But he also relies very heavily on hearsay and rumour and is quick to interlace the work with his own subjective viewpoint. If he has unrestricted access to the whole history of the state, he, for the most part, seems more interested in the tittle-tattle than in objective discourse. 

			Again, this might seem like a terrible slight on his ability as a documentarian, but to treat his work as fluff would be to dismiss it as an overview of how Roman society liked to consume such literature. We often forget that these histories were not written with us in mind, and we are not Suetonius’ target audience. Instead, he has a readership in mind, and he is giving them exactly what he thinks they are craving. People wanted to be entertained back then just as much as they do now, and at times, Suetonius seems more concerned with giving his audience what they want rather than compiling a comprehensive or representative overview of history. 

			What he has written then is punchy, brief, fun and deliciously moreish. It is also, thankfully, historically essential for us, the audience that he could never have imagined. As a work of reference, it is vital but incomplete. He skips over some incredibly important events in Roman history with nothing but a word or two and just ignores other elements almost entirely. We learn almost nothing of Vespasian’s incredibly important wars in Judea or Claudius’ campaign in Britain, for example. Vesuvius erupts and buries two cities, and what seems to us as one of the most vital moments in Roman history is skipped over in a sentence or two. However, we also learn from him that those same cities weren’t totally abandoned after the devastation and attempts were made to bring relief to survivors and rebuild what was left, something that modern archaeology has later confirmed.  

			Although Suetonius was never a senator himself, his work takes the side of the senate in most disagreements and conflicts with the emperor as well as their opinions of him. Suetonius was close to many people who were of senatorial rank, none less important than another famous writer of the same period, Pliny the Younger. There doesn’t seem to be a deliberate bias in his overall pro-senate stance, suggesting that such influences were based more on his source material, both in terms of the written word and idle gossip. Those biases are not entirely unconscious, however, and after he lost access to the official archives not long into the beginning of the work, after falling out in spectacular style with Hadrian, he then relies on second-hand testimony, probably written in something of a rather grumpier mood than when he began. He took with him from the service of Hadrian either a great bunch of letters and documents or copies of them, but there is a notable point, somewhere around the start of Claudius, when he runs out of such material and has to rely on his other sources. He doesn’t quote Claudius directly, for example, because he doesn’t have the material to quote from. None of this is to say that it lacks historical value. Far from it. It gives us all sorts of insights into the ancestry, physical appearance, lives, and careers of the emperors. Things that other writers don’t even think to mention. He also has a great talent for pacing, dramatic impact and pathos. His description of the last day of Nero is romantic, sad, anxious, and paced like a thriller. When crowds rush into the street to cheer the deaths of tyrants, one can almost hear the bells ringing. When Titus dies, you can listen to the wails of the senate. His work also fills in some details that are missing from others. Whilst Tacitus’ Annals might be a more exacting historical work, all of his accounts of the life of Caligula, for example, are missing. Suetonius fills in the voids, expands on the life of Claudius and fleshes out the lineage of Vespasian. 

			

			The oldest extant copy of Twelve Caesars was copied in Tours around the early part of the 9th Century AD and is held in the  Bibliothèque Nationale de France. Like all versions, the beginning section of the life of Julius Caesar and the introduction are both missing. 

			In total, there are nineteen surviving versions, all dating from the 13th Century or earlier. The transcription of most of the copies is surprisingly consistent, and there are few variations in the text between them. Most of these differences suggest that the various copies were produced from two versions over two broad periods, an ‘alpha’ branch, which mainly derived in France and a ‘beta’ branch transcribed in England. References to the work appear in older works, such as De magistratibus populi Romani, a 6th-century work by John Lydus, which quotes from the introduction, mentioning the dedication to Septicius, thus allowing the book to be dated to 119-121 when that man was Praetorian prefect. 

			The work was hugely influential, even in ancient times. The lost work Caesares, which covered the lives of emperors in the 2nd and 3rd centuries, was compiled by Marius Maximus and almost certainly used Twelve Caesars as a template, and both of these works were heavily influential on whoever the rather bizarre anonymous author of the infamous work Historia Augusta was. The Historia reads, at times, like Twelve Caesars, but with everything turned up to 11, and whoever wrote it was evidently trying to channel Suetonius, even if, at times, the whole thing wanders off into a make-believe world of fictionalised gibberish. In the 9th Century, the Frankish scholar Einhard used both Suetonius and Twelve Caesars as a template for his Life of Charlemagne, at times lifting whole pieces of Suetonius’ work verbatim and dropping them into his own. 

			 Not a huge amount is known about the life of Suetonius himself. He was probably born in AD 69, during the chaos surrounding the death of Nero, based mainly on remarks he makes, in which he describes himself as a “young man” about two decades after that time period. Most scholars put his birthplace as Hippo Regius, a small town in Numidia, in modern-day Algeria. His father, who he also mentions in his works, was Suetonius Laetus, a military tribune who belonged to the equestrian order and who served in Legio XIII Gemina. Suetonius himself had an education in the liberal arts in Rome. As already mentioned, he was a close friend of Pliny the Younger, who described him as “quiet and studious, a man dedicated to writing”. Pliny helped him buy property and used his influence with Trajan to gain the privileges usually granted to men who had fathered three children despite him being childless. 

			Under Trajan, he served as the director of the imperial archives, where his passion for the empire’s heritage was obviously put to good use. He then became the private secretary of Hadrian, a post which he held until he was dismissed. In a twist that, ironically, he would have relished in his own work, the exact circumstances of why he was dismissed are not clear but include some juicy gossip of improper behaviour and plenty of sex. Hadrian went away on one of his many trips abroad, leaving his wife, Sabina, behind. The question of Hadrian’s sexuality is perhaps a little more complicated than simply ‘he was gay’, but he and Sabina lived in a loveless marriage, albeit one of great personal respect. He might not have been in love with her, but he had nothing but admiration for her as a person and as an empress. When he came back, both Suetonius and Septicius were summarily dismissed, ostensibly because she had not been treated in the manner he would have expected of an empress and quite possibly because one or other of them was sleeping with her. Suetonius was unmarried, and Sabina, well ... you fill in the rest. 

			The work you have here is translated directly from the Latin, of which there are all manner of versions available to the public. The Latin text used is that of Maximilian Ihm in the Teubner edition of 1907, which is a critical edition, meaning he compared multiple manuscripts, assessed variant readings, and attempted to reconstruct the most authoritative Latin text possible. 

			Any mistakes in the translation into English are entirely my own. 

			In the twenty-five years or more I have been writing on and teaching about Roman history, Suetonius has always held a special place in my affections, and in translating this work, I have, as always, thoroughly enjoyed his company. I hope you enjoy reading it as much as I enjoyed working on it.

			James Coverley.

			A QUICK NOTE ON ROMAN DATING

			

			Unlike modern times, Romans didn’t generally measure years with a handy numbering system. Instead of the year being identified with a number, they were instead known by the names of the two consuls who took office on January 1st each year, so each year would be called “the year in which xxxx and yyyy were consul,” and you will see this used throughout this work, with corresponding endnotes to indicate which year we identify this as.

			Similarly, the days of the month were expressed in relation to their distance from three specific points in each month, so “three days before the Kalends of January,” for example. The Kalends of each month are, simply, the first day of each month. The (infamous) Ides are the 13th day of the months which had 29 days, so January, April, June, August, September, November and December, and also February, which had 28. In the other months, March, May, July and October, which had 31 days, the Ides was on the 15th day. The Nones was the ninth day before the Ides.

			Contrary to popular belief, Julius Caesar didn’t add two months to the calendar. Before his reforms, the Roman calendar had an “intercalary” month that was inserted into the calendar by the pontiffs at their own whim, usually to lengthen or shorten the year of office held by allies or enemies as appropriate. Caesar got rid of that floating month and jiggled things about to make pretty much what we have today. The month of Quintilis was renamed “July” in his honour and Sextilis was later renamed after Augustus. As you will see, later emperors tried to rename other months after themselves, but none of them stuck in the long run.

		

	
		

		
		

	
		
			
GLOSSARY

			of commonly used terms

		

		

		
			Aedile - A magistrate broadly responsible for the maintenance of public buildings and the supervision of Rome’s various festivals. In rank they sit between praetor and quaestor.

			Atellan Farce - Bawdy, often improvised theatrical performances featuring masked stock characters like the fool, the glutton, and the old miser. Though once a rustic tradition, they endured as nostalgic entertainment, sometimes even performed by aristocrats for amusement.

			Augustales - Priests of the imperial cult who oversaw the worship of deified emperors. Established under Augustus, this priesthood reinforced loyalty to the regime through religious ceremonies across the Empire.

			Auspices - Omens interpreted by priests (Augurs) to discern divine favour, usually through the observation of birds or celestial patterns. Under imperial rule, their significance was frequently exploited to justify political decisions.

			Bacchanalia – Ecstatic, often clandestine religious rites in honour of Bacchus, notorious for their excesses. Banned by the Senate in 186 BC but persisted in private circles. 

			Board of Fifteen - A priestly college in Rome responsible for safeguarding the Sibylline Books and overseeing foreign cults. Under the emperors, their role expanded to include organising secular games and imperial deification ceremonies.

			Board of Ten - A committee of ten magistrates originally formed to codify Roman law in the 5th century BC. 

			Centumviral court - The highest civil court in ancient Rome, composed of 105 judges who presided over inheritance and property disputes. By the time of Suetonius, it had grown to 180 strong.

			Centurion - A professional officer in the Roman army, commanding a century (80 men.)

			Cognomen - The third name in a Roman citizen’s full name (e.g., “Caesar” in Gaius Julius Caesar), often hereditary or denoting personal traits, achievements, or origins.

			Comitia - Popular assemblies where Roman citizens voted on laws and elected magistrates during the Republic, though their powers were steadily eroded under imperial rule.

			Colonies - Settlements established by Rome outside Italy, often populated by veteran soldiers or citizens, serving as hubs of Roman culture and military control in conquered territories.

			Conscript Father - The formal term for a member of the senate. Also sometimes just “fathers.”

			Consuls - The two highest-ranking magistrates in the Roman Republic, elected annually to lead the state and command armies; under the Empire, the role became largely ceremonial, often filled by emperors or their allies.Curule chair  - A folding stool with curved legs, made of ivory or wood, symbolising high office in Rome. It was used by magistrates such as consuls, praetors, and later emperors during official functions.

			Cursus honorum  - The sequential ladder of public offices (e.g., quaestor, praetor, consul) that defined a Roman politician’s career, increasingly manipulated by emperors to control the aristocracy.

			Decuriones – Local councillors in Roman municipalities, typically wealthy elites responsible for civic governance and tax collection in provincial towns. 

			Denarius - A silver coin that was the standard currency of the Roman Republic and Empire.

			Ducenarii  - Mid-ranking citizens who a disposable income of 200,000 sesterces, often holding administrative or military positions.

			Equestrian - A member of the equites, Rome’s second-highest social class after senators, originally cavalrymen but later comprising wealthy businessmen, administrators, and imperial officials. Also known as “knights.”

			Editor - A sponsor or organiser of public games (ludi), responsible for financing and overseeing events such as gladiatorial combats or theatrical performances.

			Fasces - A bundle of wooden rods bound around an axe, symbolising a magistrate’s authority to punish or execute; carried by lictors in public processions. The origin of the word “fascism.”

			Fiscus - The imperial treasury, distinct from the public treasury, used to manage the emperor’s personal wealth and provincial revenues.

			Flamen - A priest dedicated to the worship of a specific Roman deity, such as the Flamen Dialis (priest of Jupiter), with rituals central to state religion.

			Gens - A clan or extended family sharing a common name (e.g., Julia, Claudia), whose prestige influenced political and social standing.

			Gymnasium - A public facility for athletic training and intellectual pursuits, modelled on Greek examples and adopted in Roman cities for elite education.

			Haruspex - A priest trained in divination by examining the entrails of sacrificed animals, particularly the liver, to interpret the will of the gods.

			Ides - The 13th or 15th day of the month in the Roman calendar, marked by religious observances.

			Imperator - Originally a title acclaiming a victorious general; under the Empire, it became a permanent prefix for emperors, symbolising supreme military authority.

			Insulae - Multi-storey apartment blocks housing Rome’s urban poor, notorious for overcrowding and fire risks.

			Kalends - The first day of the month in the Roman calendar.

			Lares - Household gods worshipped in Roman homes, believed to protect the family and hearth; their shrines (lararia) were central to domestic rituals.

			Latin Rights (Ius Latii) - A legal status granting partial Roman citizenship to allied communities in Italy and the provinces, including trade rights and intermarriage, but not full political participation.

			Legate - A high-ranking Roman official, either a senior military officer commanding a legion or a governor appointed to administer an imperial province.

			Lictor - An attendant who carried the fasces for magistrates, symbolising their authority to punish or execute.

			

			Lupercalia - An ancient fertility festival held in February, involving rituals by the Luperci priests, including the sacrifice of goats and a race around the Palatine Hill.

			Nomen – The family name (nomen gentilicium) in a Roman’s full name (e.g., “Julius” in Gaius Julius Caesar), indicating lineage and clan (gens). 

			Nones - The fifth or seventh day of the month in the Roman calendar, occurring eight days before the Ides (e.g., 5 July or 7 March), often marking religious observances.

			Nundinae - Market days held every eight days in Rome, when rural farmers would trade goods and citizens might gather for political announcements.

			Optimates - The conservative faction in Roman politics, advocating for senatorial supremacy and traditional aristocratic privilege, opposing the populares.

			Ornamenta - Honorary insignia or decorations (e.g., ornamenta triumphalia) bestowed by emperors as political favours, often replacing actual military commands.

			Ovation - A lesser form of Roman triumph, granted for victories deemed unworthy of a full triumph, where the general entered Rome on foot or horseback.

			Pantomime - A dramatic performance where a solo dancer, accompanied by music and a chorus, enacted mythological tales through gesture and movement.

			Pater Patriae - “Father of the Country,” an honorific title awarded to emperors like Augustus, symbolising their role as moral and political guardians of Rome.

			Pontifex Maximus - The chief high priest of Rome, overseeing the state religion and the college of pontiffs; a title later monopolized by emperors to consolidate religious authority.

			Praetor - A high-ranking magistrate responsible for administering justice and presiding over courts; under the Empire, their role became largely ceremonial.

			Praetorian Guard - The elite military unit tasked with protecting the emperor, notorious for its political influence and role in imperial assassinations.

			Princeps - The title meaning “first citizen,” adopted by Augustus to denote his unofficial supremacy, evolving into the formal term for emperor.

			Proconsul - A former consul or praetor granted extended authority to govern a province, often with military command; under the Empire, appointments were controlled by the emperor.

			Procurator - An imperial agent appointed to manage finances, estates, or minor provinces, often of equestrian rank and directly answerable to the emperor.

			Propraetor - A former praetor granted extended authority to govern a province, typically for one year, with military and judicial powers.

			Pyrrhic Dance - A ritual war dance of Greek origin, performed in armour by youths at religious and public festivals, later adopted into Roman spectacle culture.

			Quaestor - The most junior magistracy in the cursus honorum, responsible for financial administration, including treasury oversight or assisting provincial governors.

			Quinquatria - A five-day festival held from 19–23 March in honour of Minerva.

			Rhetor - A professional teacher of rhetoric, often Greek, whose training was essential for elite political careers or imperial advisory roles. 

			Rostra - The speaker’s platform in the Forum, used for public orations and imperial announcements.

			Saepta - A large enclosed voting area in Rome’s Campus Martius, later repurposed under the Empire for public spectacles and markets.

			Salii - The “leaping priests” of Mars, who performed ritual dances and chants during annual festivals, preserving archaic traditions.

			Saturnalia - A festive holiday in December honouring Saturn, characterized by role reversals, feasting, and gift-giving, during which social norms were temporarily relaxed.

			Sestertius - A brass or silver coin worth four asses, the standard unit for large transactions and imperial fiscal accounting.

			Sibylline Books - A collection of oracular prophecies consulted by the Board of Fifteen in times of crisis, believed to guide Rome’s religious and political decisions.

			Stola - The formal dress of Roman matrons, marking respectable status.

			Suffect Consul - A replacement consul appointed mid-term to fill vacancies in the office, often used by emperors to reward loyalists.

			Tarpeian Rock - A cliff on the Capitoline Hill used for executing traitors and criminals by throwing them from its heights, symbolizing Rome’s harsh justice.

			Toga - The formal woollen garment of Roman citizens, draped distinctively to denote status (e.g., toga praetexta with purple trim for magistrates).

			Tribune - An official representing plebeian interests, with power to veto laws and convene assemblies.

			Tribune (Military) - A senior officer in a Roman legion, typically a young aristocrat gaining experience; six served per legion, overseeing camp logistics, discipline, and minor commands.

			Tribunician Power - The authority of a plebeian tribune, granted to emperors annually, enabling them to veto laws, convene the Senate, and invoke sacrosanctity (legal inviolability).

			Troy Game - An elaborate equestrian drill performed by aristocratic youths, re-enacting legendary battles from the Trojan War; revived by Augustus to showcase elite tradition.

			Vestal Virgins - The six priestesses of Vesta, tasked with maintaining the sacred fire in her temple; their chastity symbolized Rome’s stability, and they enjoyed unique legal privileges.

			Vigiles - The paramilitary firefighting and policing force established by Augustus.

		

	
		

		
		

	
		
			BOOK ONE

			THE DEIFIED JULIUS CAESAR

			The life and history of the Dictator

			from youth until his untimely death.

			by Gaius Suetonius Tranquillus

		

		

		
			At the age of fifteen, his father died.1 The following year, after being nominated as flamen Dialis,2 he divorced Cossutia, a girl from an extremely wealthy equestrian family to whom he had been betrothed while he was just a boy. He then married Cornelia, whose father, Cinna, had been consul on four occasions, and they had a daughter he named Julia. The dictator Sulla tried everything he could to persuade him to change his mind and divorce her, but he refused, and as a result, he was stripped of the priesthood, his wife’s dowry and his inheritance. Not only that, Sulla named him as an enemy, and he was forced to retreat from public life and go into hiding.

			Night after night, despite struggling from a bout of malaria, he was forced to flit from hiding place to hiding place, paying off the enemy agents on his trail with bribes. It was only thanks to the intervention of the Vestal Virgins and the work of his near relatives, Mamercus Aemilius and Aurelius Cotta that he finally managed to secure a pardon.

			Sulla consistently rejected all the appeals of even his closest and most distinguished followers until, at last, he gave way and, either through divine intervention or through his foresight, made a declaration that has since been often quoted:

			 “Fine. You win. Take him. But be warned - this man that you have been so eager to save will one day deal a death blow to the Optimates,3 which you have joined with me in defending, for there is more than one Marius4 in this Caesar of yours.”

			2. His first military posting was on the personal staff of the governor Marcus Thermus, who sent him to Bythinia to raise a fleet. He spent so long lingering at the court of Nicomedes that rumours went around that he had fallen prey to the king’s sexual advances. The rumours intensified when he went back there a few days later, supposedly to collect money that he said was owed to one of his freedmen. However, the rest of his military service was received more favourably, and he was awarded the civic crown5 by Thermus for his role in the capture of Mytilene.6

			3. He also served under Servilius Isauricus, but only briefly until the news of Sulla’s death sent him racing back to Rome, where he looked to take advantage of the civil unrest that Marcus Lepidus had stirred up. 

			Nevertheless, despite the tempting incentives that Lepidus offered him to join his cause, he found the situation much less promising than he had hoped for and because he lacked confidence in Lepidus’ abilities, he declined to join his side.

			

			4. However, this didn’t stop him, once the unrest had been repressed, from bringing a charge of extortion against Cornelius Dolabella, who was not only a former consul but had also celebrated a triumph in the past. But when Dolabella was found not guilty, the resulting bad publicity forced him to withdraw to Rhodes, where he spent his time at leisure and studying under Apollonius Molo, who at the time was the leading teacher in the art of rhetoric. 

			But as he was sailing there in the winter months, he was captured by pirates near the island of Pharmacussa and remained in their custody for nearly forty days with only one physician and two attendants, burning with indignation. From the outset, he had sent his companions and other servants to gather the ransom money. After paying the fifty talents7 demanded, he was released and promptly raised a fleet, pursued the pirates, and, once he had captured them, inflicted upon them the punishment he had often jokingly promised while bantering with them in captivity.8

			Thus he arrived on Rhodes, but because Mithridates was ravaging the nearby regions, Caesar, unwilling to appear idle in a time of danger to Rome’s allies, left Rhodes and went into Asia. There, he raised auxiliary forces, expelled the prefect of the king from the province, and secured the loyalty of wavering cities.

			5. During his time as a military tribune, which was the first public office to which he was elected, he eagerly backed the campaign to restore to the tribunes of the plebs the powers that Sulla had taken from them. Through a bill proposed by one Plotius, he also secured the return of Lucius Cinna, his brother-in-law, and others who, in the civil strife, had followed Lepidus and, after the consul’s death, had fled to join Sertorius.9 He even addressed the people in a public speech on their behalf.

			6. While he was serving as quaestor, both his wife Cornelia and his aunt Julia died, and he delivered the traditional eulogies from the Rostra in the Forum. During Julia’s eulogy, he spoke of both her lineage and his father’s as follows:

			“My aunt Julia’s maternal line comes from kings, and her paternal line comes from the gods. For the Marcii Reges, from whom her mother came, descend from King Ancus Marcius; the Julii, our own family, descend from Venus. Thus, in our ancestry, there is both the sanctity of kings, who wield the greatest power among men, and the reverence of the gods, whom even kings obey.”

			After Cornelia’s death, he married Pompeia, the daughter of Quintus Pompeius and granddaughter of Lucius Sulla, but he then later divorced her on the grounds that she had committed adultery with Publius Clodius, who was so widely rumoured to have entered into her home to be with her during a public religious ceremony,10 disguised in women’s clothing, that the senate ordered an investigation into the desecration of the sacred rites.

			7. He was allocated the quaestorship of Hispania Ulterior and, on the instructions of the praetor, made a circuit of the local judicial districts. When he arrived at Gades, he came across a statue of Alexander the Great in the temple of Hercules and in contemplating his own lack of achievement in comparison, he groaned out loud because, at an age when Alexander had already conquered the world, he had achieved nothing of note. And so he asked to be relieved of the rest of his duties so he could return to Rome and take advantage of the better opportunities that awaited him there.

			The next night, he was troubled by a terrible dream in which he raped his own mother. Distraught, he sought the advice of the dream interpreters, and when they explained the dream to him, his spirits soared. For they told him that the mother he had seen himself dominating in the dream was none other than the earth itself, the mother of all, and that it was, therefore, a prophecy that he would one day conquer the world.

			8. And so he cut short his term in Spain and approached the Latin colonies11 who were agitating for Roman citizenship. He might have stirred them into some bold action, too, had the consuls not deployed the legions already enlisted for Cilicia in the area precisely to prevent such an eventuality.

			9. Undaunted, he soon became involved in even more ambitious schemes in the city. Shortly before becoming aedile, he was suspected of forming a plot with Marcus Crassus, the former consul, and Publius Sulla and Lucius Autronius (who had both been found guilty of electoral malpractice after being elected consul) to launch an assault on the senate on the first day of January and slaughter selected senators. If the plan were successful, he would then be named master of horse by Crassus, who would take on the role of dictator, and Sulla and Autronius would be reinstated as consuls once they had rearranged the political system to suit their needs. Tanusius Geminus mentions this conspiracy in his history, Marcus Bibulus in his edicts and Curio the Elder in his speeches. Cicero seems to hint at it in his letter to Axius, in which he writes that Caesar had confirmed a monarchy that he had contemplated while aedile.

			Tanusius adds that Crassus, either because he changed his mind or out of fear, failed to appear on the appointed day for the massacre and that, as a result, Caesar never gave the agreed signal, which, according to Curio, was to let his toga slip from his shoulders.

			Curio also claimed (and Actorius Naso confirmed) that Caesar conspired with a young nobleman, Gnaeus Piso, who, because he was a troublemaker in Rome, had been sent to the province of Hispania Ulterior even though his appointment there was out of turn. The plan was for Piso to rise up abroad whilst Caesar stirred unrest in Rome, using the services of the Ambrones and the Transpadanes.12 The entire scheme fell through after Piso’s death.13

			10. As aedile, Caesar decorated not only the Comitium14 and Forum and the basilicas but also the Capitol, erecting temporary porticoes in which, thanks to the abundance of goods,15 part of the display could be exhibited. He put on wild beast hunts and games both with his colleague and independently, with the result that he alone earned the gratitude even if he only incurred half the costs. His colleague, Marcus Bibulus, complained loudly that he had suffered the same fate as Pollux, for just as the temple of Castor and Pollux was known simply as the Temple of Castor, so too the generosity that was his and Caesar’s was spoken of as Caesar’s alone. In addition, Caesar also presented a gladiatorial show, though with significantly fewer pairs than he had planned. For after assembling a troupe of fighters that was so huge and of such variety that it alarmed his enemies, a law was passed limiting the number of gladiators anyone could keep in Rome.

			11. In this way, he won over the support of the people, and he then attempted, through some of the tribunes, to have Egypt assigned to him as a province by plebiscite. He had found an opportunity to claim an extraordinary command since the Alexandrians had expelled their king, who had been declared a friend and ally of the senate, in a move that had been widely condemned. But he failed because the optimates opposed it.

			He struck back by trying to undermine their authority however he could. He restored the trophies that commemorated Gaius Marius for his victories over Jugurtha, the Cimbri, and the Teutones, which Sulla had once torn down. And when conducting trials of murderers, he even treated as assassins those who had been rewarded from the treasury for bringing in the heads of Roman citizens during the proscriptions,16 even though they had been exempted by Sulla’s laws.

			12. He also bribed a man to bring a charge of treason against Gaius Rabirius, who had been a leading supporter of the senate some years earlier in suppressing the seditious tribunate of Lucius Saturninus. Having been assigned by lot as judge17 in the case, he sentenced him with such harshness that Rabirius’ appeal to the people gained more support simply because of the apparent bias he had shown as judge.

			13. Having set aside hopes of a provincial command, he sought the office of Pontifex Maximus, and to confirm it, he continued his use of extravagant bribery. As a consequence, he found himself burdened with crippling debts, and he is said to have told his mother, as he kissed her goodbye before setting out for the assembly on the morning of the election, that he was either going to come back as Pontifex or not at all. 

			

			In the end, his margin of victory over his rivals, both of whom were formidable opponents and his superior in both age and rank, was so large that he amassed more votes from their respective tribes than both of them accrued in total.

			14. When he was the praetor elect, and the conspiracy of Catiline18 had been uncovered, he alone opposed the unanimous decision of the senate to execute everyone who was implicated in the plot. Instead, he suggested that they be stripped of their property, separated, and sent into exile to various towns. 

			In fact, by repeatedly pointing out the long-lasting public hatred that would await them from the people, he caused such anxiety among those who were advocating for harsher punishments that Decimus Silanus, the consul-designate, shamelessly sought to soften his position. Simply changing one’s vote outright would have been disgraceful, so instead, he tried to claim that his earlier position had been misunderstood and he had never meant for it to seem so harsh.

			Caesar had already won over many to his view, even the consul Cicero’s own brother, and might have carried the vote had Marcus Cato not strengthened the wavering senate with a powerful speech. Even then, he did not give up trying to block the measure until the Roman equites standing guard around the senate with drawn swords for protection threatened him with death if he continued. 

			They drew their swords, causing panic among those seated close to him, who fled for their lives, and only a few of his friends remained to shield him with their arms, sheltering him beneath their togas. By now thoroughly intimidated, he not only backed down but stayed away from the senate for the rest of the year.

			15. On his first day in office as praetor, he summoned Quintus Catulus to appear before a people’s inquiry for an update on the restoration of the Capitol and brought forward a bill to transfer the responsibility for the repair work to someone else.19 But he found himself unequal to the concerted opposition of the optimates who, on hearing of the measures, abandoned their duties in escorting the new consuls and rushed together in great numbers and with a firm resolve to resist him.20 As a result, he gave up on this particular initiative.

			16. However, he showed himself to be more robust when it came to backing the tribune of the plebs, Caecilius Metellus, who had proposed some extremely disruptive laws, even in the face of opposition from his fellow tribunes. This continued until both of them were suspended from the administration of the state by decree of the senate. Nonetheless, Caesar dared to remain in office and exercise judicial powers. But when he learned that plans were being drawn up to use armed men to stop him by force, he dismissed his lictors, took off his official robes, and quietly slipped off to his home with the intention of keeping his head down until the situation had blown over.

			Two days later, a large, unruly crowd suddenly appeared from nowhere outside his house, offering their help in recovering his position, but he managed to prevent them from going on a rampage. This display of public support surprised the senate, and they hastily reconvened, formally expressed their thanks to him through leading senators, summoned him to the Curia, and praised him in the highest terms, restoring him to office by overturning its earlier decree.

			17. He soon found himself  in deep trouble all over again, however, when he found himself named as one of Catiline’s accomplices, an accusation made by an informer, Lucius Vettius, before the quaestor Novius Nigrus and in the senate by Quintus Curius who was promised a reward for being the first to uncover the plans of the conspirators. Curius claimed he had learned of Caesar’s involvement from Catiline directly, while Vettius went so far as to say he possessed a signed note from Caesar given to Catiline. 

			Considering this utterly intolerable, Caesar called upon Cicero to testify that he had, of his own accord, given him information about the conspiracy. As a result, Curius was denied his reward. 

			Vettius lost his bond,21 had his property seized, was heavily fined and was nearly beaten to death by an angry mob during a public meeting before the Rostra. Caesar had him thrown in prison, and Novius the quaestor, too, on the grounds that he had allowed someone with greater authority than himself to be prosecuted in his court.

			18. When, at the end of his praetorship, he was allocated the province of Hispania Ulterior by lot, he managed to placate his debtors, who had been attempting to stop him from leaving, by finding people to guarantee his debts. Then, ignoring both the law and precedent, he set off before the provincial appointments had been ratified, either because he was worried that the safety from prosecution that public office offered him would be removed before he could get out or because he was keen to not waste any time in coming to the aid of allies who were pleading for it. After pacifying the province, he departed just as quickly as he had arrived, without waiting for his successor, seeking both a triumph and the consulship. But since, under the rules already announced for the election, his candidacy couldn’t be considered unless he entered the city as a private citizen, and many opposed his attempts to exempt him from the law, he was forced to give up the triumph in order not to be excluded from the consulship.

			19. He had two other rivals for the consulship, Lucius Lucceius and Marcus Bibulus, and he opted to side with Lucceius, a man who lacked support but was extremely wealthy. They came to an arrangement that when Lucceius bribed the voters, he would do so in both their names and when the optimates discovered this, they were worried about just how much power Caesar would be able to wield and what he might do with it if he were to share the most important magistracies with a cooperative and malleable colleague. So they gave Bibulus the free reign to match his bribes and even contributed money to fund them. Even Cato could not deny that these bribes were essential for the good of the republic.

			As a result, therefore, Bibulus was elected alongside him as consul. For the same reason, the optimates then worked to assign the consuls the least important provinces, ones that were just forests and mountain pastures.22 Outraged by this slur, he formed a plan to make an ally out of Gnaeus Pompey, who had fallen out with the senate over its delay in ratifying the terms he had agreed with King Mithridates after defeating him in battle. He also managed to reconcile Pompey with Marcus Crassus, the two of them having been enemies ever since they spent their joint time as consuls sniping at each other. He then struck a deal with the pair of them that nothing would be done in the affairs of the republic that went against the wishes of any one of the three.

			20. His first act on taking up office was to ensure that the proceedings of the senate and the people were compiled and posted for public display on a daily basis. He also revived an ancient custom where, during the months when he did not hold the fasces, a ceremonial attendant would walk ahead of him while the lictors followed behind. When his colleague tried to obstruct his introduction of a land reform bill by announcing that the omens were unfavourable,23 he had him manhandled out of the Forum. When Bibulus returned to the senate the following day to express his outrage at his treatment, nobody was brave enough to express any opinion on the matter, much less condemn it, despite far less severe cases of rough treatment being regularly met with official censure. Bibulus was so disheartened by this total lack of support that he scurried home, where he spent the rest of his term, sulking in his house and doing nothing but issue vague proclamations about bad omens. 

			From then on, one man alone had sole responsibility for all the affairs of the state and for the administration of justice. So much so that some comedians in the city, when they signed documents in jest, dated them not “in the consulship of Caesar and Bibulus” but “in the consulship of Julius and Caesar,” using his family name and his cognomen as if he held both offices. Soon, the following verses were on everyone’s lips:

			“It happened not in the year of Bibulus, but of Caesar. For I remember nothing being done when Bibulus was consul.”

			

			He distributed the ager Stellatis, which the ancestors had consecrated as sacred, and the ager Campanus, previously reserved for state income, among 20,000 citizens with at least three children, ignoring the usual process of allocating land by ballot. He eased the burdens on tax farmers by remitting a third of what they owed but publicly warned them against bidding too aggressively on future contracts. He gave out further gifts to whomever he pleased, silencing all opposition by intimidating those who tried. When Marcus Cato attempted to block him,24 he ordered his lictor to drag him out of the senate and throw him in prison. He terrified Lucius Lucullus, who had resisted more freely, so badly with threats of trumped-up lawsuits25 that Lucullus ended up falling at his feet in submission. And when Cicero lamented the state of the times during a trial, he transferred Cicero’s enemy, Publius Clodius, to the plebeians26 that same day at the ninth hour, something Clodius had long attempted unsuccessfully. 

			Finally, taking action against all the opposition in one go, Caesar bribed an informer to claim that certain senators had incited him to assassinate Pompey. Brought forward to the rostra, the man began naming conspirators, as arranged, but when the informer had named one or two, and nobody seemed to believe him and started to suspect that fraud was being committed, Caesar realised the plan wasn’t working, gave up on it and had the informer poisoned to ensure his silence.

			21. Around this time, he married Calpurnia, the daughter of Lucius Piso, who was to succeed him as consul. He then arranged for his own daughter, Julia, to marry Gnaeus Pompey despite her already having been betrothed to Servilius Caepio, a man who had recently been of excellent service to him in his campaign against Bibulus. As soon as this marriage alliance was formed, he would call Pompey to speak first in the senate, something that had previously been the privilege of Crassus, and in doing so, he broke with the tradition that the order of speakers was set by the consul on the first day of January and remained unchanged throughout the year.

			22. So, with the backing of his new father-in-law and son-in-law, he chose from all the provinces available to him the one which offered the choicest pickings and the best opportunity for winning triumphs: Gaul. To begin with, under the provisions of the lex Vatinia, he was given Cisalpine Gaul and Illyria, but it didn’t take long for the senate to assign him Transalpine Gaul, as well, reckoning that if they didn’t give it to him, the people would grant it instead. 

			Caesar was beside himself with glee at his success, so much so that, a few days later, he couldn’t resist boasting in the Senate House that as much as his enemies might complain, he had got everything he wanted in the face of all their grumbling and that he would continue to make them suck his dick whenever he felt like it. When some wag tried to insult him by observing that this might be some trick for a woman like him to pull off, he joined in the banter by pointing out that Semiramis had ruled over Syria and the Amazons had once dominated much of Asia.

			23. After he had completed his term as consul, the praetors Gaius Memmius and Lucius Domitius27 launched an inquiry into his activities during the previous year. To begin with, he referred the matter to the senate and then, after three days of pointless to-and-fro, during which the senate failed to do anything at all, he left for his province. 

			No sooner had he left, but a number of charges were lodged against quaestor in an effort to attack him. It didn’t take long for Lucius Antistius, a tribune of the plebs, to begin a prosecution, a situation he managed to avoid by appealing to the tribunes as a body that he should be excused from his responsibilities as a defendant because he was away on official business. From that point on, he made it a major priority, to ensure his security for future years, to bind the annually elected magistrates to him, backing only the candidates or confirming those for office who first pledged to defend him while he was away. And to seal the deal, he made some swear oaths and even sign a written contract to bind them to the agreement.

			24. But when Lucius Domitius, a candidate for the consulship, was openly threatening that, once he was consul, he would do what he had not managed to do when he was praetor and strip Caesar of his armies, Caesar summoned Crassus and Pompey to come to his province, to the town of Luca, where they hatched a plan to knock Domitius out of the race by running for the consulship themselves once again and then, when they won, to arrange it so that his period of command was extended by five years. With new found confidence, he raised legions at his own expense and added them to the legions that the state had given him. One of them was recruited from the Transalpine Gauls and even bore a Gallic name, “Alauda,”28 and he trained and equipped them in the Roman fashion. Eventually, he granted them all citizenship. From then on, he seized every opportunity to wage war, no matter how illegal or dangerous the circumstances. He would launch unprovoked raids on Rome’s allies with just as much relish as on the barbarian tribes that were her enemies. Indeed, the senate once voted to send envoys to investigate the state of affairs in Gaul, and some even proposed that he be handed over to the enemy. But since events continued to turn out in his favour, he won more frequent and more numerous days of public thanksgiving29 than anyone had ever done before him.

			25. During the nine years in which he held command, he accomplished the following. He reduced the whole of Gaul, bounded by the Pyrenees, the Alps, the Cévennes, and the rivers Rhine and Rhône, and covering a circuit of some 3,200 miles,30 into the form of a province and imposed an annual tribute of forty million sesterces on it. He was the first Roman to build a bridge across the Rhine and cross it to raid the Germans who lived on its other bank, subjecting them to a series of defeats. He attacked the Britons, a people who were unknown to the Romans, and after a series of battles, extracted tributes and slaves from them. Through so many successes, he encountered only three serious setbacks: in Britain, when a storm nearly destroyed his fleet; in Gaul, at Gergovia, where a legion was routed; and in the lands of the Germans, where his lieutenants Titurius and Aurunculus were ambushed and killed.

			26. During this period, he lost his mother, then his daughter and then, shortly afterwards, his granddaughter. In the meantime, with the republic reeling at the murder of Publius Clodius31 and the senate having decided on having a sole consul, specifically Gnaeus Pompey, he negotiated with the tribune of the plebs, who were proposing him as Pompey’s colleague, that they should instead put a bill before the people granting him permission to stand for a second consulship in absentia, during the final phase of his term in command. This he proposed so that he would not be required to return from Gaul before he could finish prosecuting the war. 

			Once he had secured this, now aiming higher and full of ambition, he took every opportunity, whether in public or in private, to shower everyone he could with money and assistance. He used the riches he had plundered from Gaul to begin work on a new forum,  the site of which alone cost over one hundred million sesterces. In memory of his daughter, he announced public games and a banquet, something no one had done before him.32 To raise the expectation of these events to the highest possible level, he had part of the banquet supplied by contracts in the markets and the rest of it prepared in his own kitchens. He also instructed that any famous gladiators who fought without winning the favour of a hostile crowd33 should be rescued and brought to him. He had novice fighters trained not in the schools but with Roman knights or even senators who were skilled at arms. His own letters show how keenly he beseeched them to give the novices their full attention and to direct their training personally. He permanently doubled the legions’ pay, and whenever there was a surplus in the grain supply, he would dole it out to his men without limit or measure, and every now and then, he would give each man a slave from among the captives.

			27. Moreover, to keep Pompey onside and the marriage connection strong, he offered him the hand of Octavia, his sister’s granddaughter, even though she was already married to Gaius Marcellus, and proposed that he himself should marry Pompey’s daughter, despite her already being married to Faustus Sulla34. He then made sure that he had put all of Pompey’s friends and a greater part of the senate under obligation to him through loans he made either without interest or at a very low rate. Everyone else he courted with lavish gifts, both those who approached him and those he approached. These even included freedmen and slaves, depending on how much favour those men might enjoy with their respective patrons. 

			Further to that, he was the only and the most ready source of support to those who were facing trial, in debt or young and immoderate, with the only exceptions being those who were so obviously guilty of their crimes or so far in debt, or so reckless with their spending that not even he could come to their rescue. To those, he openly declared that nothing but civil war would suffice..

			28. With equal zeal, he courted kings and provinces across the known world, offering thousands of captives as gifts to some, sending the support of the military to others, without any prior permission of the senate or the people, wherever or whenever it was required. Moreover, he adorned the most powerful cities of Italy, Gaul, Spain, Asia, and Greece with exceptional public works. At last, when all were thunderstruck and pondering where this was leading, the consul Marcus Claudius Marcellus, declaring in an edict that he would act for the good of the republic, proposed to the senate that Caesar be replaced before his term’s end since with the war concluded, peace had come, and the victorious army should be disbanded.35 Furthermore, he suggested that anyone not present in Rome was not entitled to run for election, since Pompey’s subsequent legislation had not annulled the decree of the people. And it was the case that when Pompey proposed a bill concerning the privileges of officials, in the clause that debarred absentees from candidacy for office, he forgot to make an exemption for Caesar and did not realise this until the law had been inscribed on bronze tablets and deposited in the treasury. Not content with stripping Caesar of his provinces and privileges, Marcellus also moved that citizenship be revoked from the colonists settled at Novum Comum36 under the Vatinian law because it had only been done to serve his personal ambitions and was beyond the scope of the law.

			29. Disturbed by these events and judging, as he often used to say, that it was harder for him, as the leading citizen, to be pushed from the first rank to the second than from the second to the lowest, he tried everything he could to spoil his enemies’ plans, partly through the veto of the tribunes and partly through Servius Sulpicius, the other consul. The following year, when Gaius Marcellus, who had succeeded his cousin Marcus in the consulship, attempted the same measures, he secured the support of Marcellus’ colleague Aemilius Paulus and the fiercely partisan tribune Gaius Curio by plying them with enormous bribes. 

			But seeing that his opponents were acting more stubbornly and even the newly elected consuls were against him, he pleaded with the senate by letter not to strip him of the people’s favour. Either that or all the other commanders should also have to disband their armies. His thinking was that if all the armies disbanded, he could more easily recall his veterans than Pompey could call up new recruits.

			 By way of compromise, he offered to disband eight of his legions and the command of Transalpine Gaul if he was allowed to keep two legions and Cisalpine Gaul, or, if not, one legion and Illyria until such time as he became consul.

			30. But when the senate refused to intervene, and his opponents declared they would not compromise on the safety of the state, he crossed into Cisalpine Gaul. After holding the provincial assizes at Ravenna, he halted there, ready to avenge by war any harsh decree the senate might pass against the tribunes who interceded on his behalf.37 This, indeed, was his pretext for civil war, but other people believe his reasons lay elsewhere. Gnaeus Pompey used to say that because Caesar would never have enough money to fund all the projects he had begun or satisfy the expectations he had stirred in the people, his only solution was to leave chaos in his wake. Others say he feared being forced to account for his actions during his first consulship, conducted in defiance of auspices, laws, and vetoes, especially since Marcus Cato repeatedly threatened, even under oath, to prosecute him the moment he disbanded his army. It was also widely predicted that if he returned as a private citizen, he would have to plead his case in court surrounded by armed guards, as Milo had done.38 This version is made more plausible by Asinius Pollio, who records that at Pharsalus, as Caesar watched his enemies routed and fleeing and the battlefield strewn with the corpses of the dead, he uttered these exact words: 

			“They brought this upon themselves. After all my achievements, I, Gaius Caesar, would have been condemned had I not sought help from my army.”

			Some believe the habit of power seduced him and, having weighed his own strength against that of his enemies, seized the opportunity to grasp the power he had coveted since youth. Cicero, writing in the third book of On Duties,39 seems to have thought so too, noting that Caesar often had on his lips these lines of Euripides, which Cicero translated thus:

			“If the law must be broken, then let it be broken with the sake of kingship. Otherwise, follow the law.”40

			31. When news reached him that the tribunes’ veto had been overruled and that they had fled the city, he ordered his cohorts to advance, but under cover to avoid raising suspicion. To keep up appearances, he attended a public spectacle, inspected plans for a gladiatorial school he intended to build, and hosted one of his customary sumptuous dinners. Then, after sunset, with mules from a nearby bakery harnessed to his carriage, he set out on a secret route with a small escort. When the torches went out, and he lost his way, he wandered for hours until dawn, when a guide helped him find narrow footpaths to safety. Rejoining his cohorts at the Rubicon River,41 the boundary of his province, he paused briefly. Reflecting on the magnitude of his undertaking, he turned to those nearby and said:

			“Even now, we could turn back. But once we cross this little bridge, it means war.”

			32. Then, as he was hesitating, a most miraculous thing occurred. A man of extraordinary size and beauty suddenly became visible, sitting nearby, playing a reed pipe. When some of his soldiers, including trumpeters, rushed to join the shepherds who had gathered at the wondrous sight, the figure snatched a horn from one of the trumpeters, leapt into the river, and blaring a mighty war call with all his breath, strode to the far bank. Then Caesar stood up: “Let us go where the signs of the gods and the injustice of our enemies call us.” He declared. “The die is cast.”42

			33. And so, having crossed with his army, he assembled the soldiers and, with the tribunes who had been expelled now joining them, he wept as he called upon the troops’ loyalty in a public address, tearing open his robe at the chest. He is even thought to have promised each soldier equestrian status, though this arose from a misunderstanding. He often gestured with his left hand while exhorting them, declaring that he would gladly strip even the ring from his finger to reward all who defended his honour. The rear ranks, who could see him better than hear him, took his visible motion as a promise, interpreting what they saw as a pledge of equestrian status. Thus, a rumour spread that he had vowed to grant them the right to wear gold rings along with four hundred thousand sesterces.43

			34. The sequence and summary of his subsequent campaigns are as follows: He seized Picenum, Umbria, and Etruria; he forced Lucius Domitius, who had been controversially appointed his successor and was holding Corfinium with a garrison, to surrender and then released him; he hurried to Brundisium on the Adriatic coast, where the consuls and Pompey had fled, intending to cross overseas. After fruitlessly trying to block their departure despite all his best efforts, he turned back toward Rome. 

			Having addressed the senators on matters of state, he attacked Pompey’s forces in Spain, where he engaged his three lieutenants: Marcus Petreius, Lucius Afranius, and Marcus Varro. Before setting out, he told his officers: “I go to fight an army without a leader so that I may later return to fight a leader without an army.” Though delayed by the siege of Massilia,44 which had shut its gates against him, and extreme grain shortages, he nevertheless swiftly crushed all resistance.

			35. After returning to Rome, he crossed into Macedonia, where he besieged Pompey for nearly four months behind massive fortifications before finally routing him at the Battle of Pharsalus.45 Pursuing the fugitive to Alexandria, he found him already murdered46 and, suspecting that a similar ambush was waiting for him, then waged an exceptionally difficult war against King Ptolemy.47 This campaign was fought at a severe disadvantage: in winter, within city walls, against a numerically superior and cunning enemy, while he himself lacked supplies and preparation. Victorious despite all, he entrusted Egypt’s throne to Cleopatra and her younger brother, deliberately avoiding provincial annexation in case some future opportunist governor sparked rebellion.

			From Alexandria, he marched to Syria and then Pontus, spurred by urgent reports of Pharnaces, son of Mithridates the Great, who was now exploiting Rome’s civil strife to reclaim his father’s ambitions. Within five days of arrival and just four hours after sighting the enemy, Caesar destroyed them in a single battle, later quipping about Pompey’s “luck” in winning military glory against such feeble foes. Finally, he crushed Scipio and Juba, who had rallied what was left of their forces in Africa, and Pompey’s sons in Spain.

			36. Throughout all of the civil wars, Caesar suffered defeats only through his lieutenants. First Gaius Curio perished in Africa; Gaius Antonius fell into enemy hands in Illyricum; Publius Dolabella lost his fleet in the same region; and Gnaeus Domitius Calvinus his army in Pontus. 

			He himself always fought with supreme success, and the outcome of any battle he fought was never in any doubt, save for two occasions. Once at Dyrrachium, where he remarked of Pompey, after he failed to capitalise on a successful attack, that he did not know how to win, and again in the Spanish campaign, during the final battle there, where with all hope lost, he even briefly considered suicide.

			37. When the wars were over, he celebrated five triumphs: four of them in a single month, spaced out over a few days, following his victory over Scipio, and a fifth after crushing Pompey’s sons. His first and most magnificent was the Gallic triumph; next came the Alexandrian, then the Pontic, followed by the African, and finally the Spanish, each distinguished by different theatrical displays and presentation of the spoils.

			During the Gallic triumph, as his chariot passed through the Velabrum, its axle broke and nearly pitched him out. He ascended the Capitol by torchlight, flanked on both sides by forty elephants bearing torches. In the Pontic triumph, amid the procession’s floats, he displayed a placard on which were written three words: VENI·VIDI·VICI,48 not going into great detail about the battles he fought like on the other inscriptions, but marking the lightning speed with which he had struck.

			38. To all the infantry in his veteran legions, he gave twenty-four thousand sesterces as booty on top of the two thousand sesterces he had paid at the start of the civil war. He also allotted lands, but not in continuous plots so that no existing owners would be displaced. To the people, besides ten modii49 of grain and the same quantity of oil, he distributed three hundred sesterces each, which he had promised at the start, and an extra hundred because it took longer than expected to deliver what he promised. He also remitted a year’s rent of up to two thousand sesterces for a tenant in Rome and up to five hundred in the rest of Italy. 

			He threw a banquet as well as a meat dole, and then, after his victories in Spain, two enormous public banquets. There were two because he decided that the first one was too stingy and unworthy of his generosity, so five days later, he provided another, more extravagant one.

			39. He put on spectacles of every kind: a gladiatorial show, theatrical performances throughout the city’s districts, with actors speaking every language, as well as chariot races, athletic contests, and a sea battle. At a gladiatorial show held in the Forum, Furius Leptinus, a man of praetorian rank, fought Quintus Calpenus, a former senator and advocate. The sons of Asian and Bithynian princes performed the Pyrrhic dance.50 

			During a theatrical show, the Roman knight Decimus Laberius acted in his own mime and, after being awarded five hundred sesterces and a gold ring, he left the stage and walked across the orchestra to sit among the fourteen rows.51 

			At the chariot races, the Circus was extended at both ends, a canal52 was added around the track, and young men of the highest rank drove four-horse and two-horse chariots and performed acrobatics bareback. Two troops of boys, one older and one younger, staged the Troy Game.53 Beast hunts were presented over five days, and finally, a battle was staged between two armies, with five hundred soldiers, twenty elephants, and thirty cavalry on each side. To allow room for the battle, the turning posts were removed, and in their place, two camps were set up opposite each other. Athletes competed in a temporary stadium in the region of the Campus Martius for three days. For the naval action, a lake was dug in the lesser Codeta, and ships representing the Tyrian and Egyptian fleets with two, three, and four banks of oars fought a battle featuring two huge marine forces. So many people came to watch the spectacles that they had to sleep in tents pitched between the streets and roads. So great was the crush that many were trampled to death, including two senators.

			40. Turning next to the reorganisation of the state, he corrected the calendar, which had long been thrown into confusion by the negligence of the pontiffs and their arbitrary insertion of intercalary months.54 It had become so hopelessly disordered that the harvest festivals no longer fell in summer nor the grape-gathering festivals in autumn. He adapted the year to the solar cycle, making it 365 days long, abolishing the intercalary month and adding one day every fourth year as a leap day.

			Furthermore, to ensure that the new system of timekeeping would align more accurately in the future from the first of January onwards, he inserted two additional months between November and December. As a result, the year in which these changes were made totalled fifteen months, including the intercalary month that had customarily fallen in that year.

			41. He refilled the vacancies that had appeared in the senate, appointed new patricians, and increased the number of praetors, aediles, quaestors, and even the lower magistrates. He restored those who had been stripped of office by the censors or because they had been convicted of electoral corruption by judicial verdicts.

			He shared the control of the elections with the people, decreeing that, apart from candidates for the consulship, half of the remaining magistrates would be chosen by popular vote, while the other half would be appointed by himself. He would make it known who he favoured by sending short notes to each tribe that read something along the lines of: “Caesar the dictator to this tribe. I recommend so-and-so and so-and-so,  that by your vote, they may retain their standing.” He also allowed the children of men who had been proscribed to run for public office. He reduced the judicial system to two classes of judges: those from the equestrian and the senatorial orders. In doing so, he eliminated the tribuni aerarii,55 who had formerly made up a third class. 

			He conducted a census of the people neither in the traditional manner nor in the traditional place, but instead going from neighbourhood to neighbourhood, taking information from the landlords of the apartment blocks. In doing so, he reduced the number of people receiving the grain dole from 300,000 to 150,000 and to ensure that nobody would revise this method of counting in the future, he decreed that every year the praetors must hold a ballot to replace those who had died with people who were not already on the rolls.

			42. Having distributed eighty thousand citizens around the overseas colonies and wishing to replenish the population of the depleted city, he decreed that no citizen between twenty and forty years of age who was not bound by an oath of military service should be absent from Italy for more than three consecutive years; that no senator’s son should travel abroad except as a companion or aide to a senior officer or magistrate; and that those engaged in cattle farming should ensure that at least one-third of their herdsmen should be young freeborn men. He granted citizenship to all medical practitioners and liberal arts teachers in Rome to encourage them to remain in the city and attract others. As for the debt problem, after dismissing repeated calls for complete debt cancellation, he finally decreed that debtors should satisfy creditors by giving over property valued at pre-civil war prices, with any payments made in interest deducted from the total debt, whether in cash or by a promissory note. 

			By this arrangement, nearly a quarter of all debts were effectively cancelled. He dissolved all professional guilds except those that had been established in ancient times.56 He increased the penalties for crimes, and since the wealthy were more easily drawn into criminal acts because they retained their estates even in exile, he decreed that parricides (as Cicero notes) should forfeit all their property, while others convicted of major crimes would be fined half their estates.

			43. He administered justice with conscientious persistence and rigour. He even removed from the senatorial order a man who had been convicted of extortion. He annulled the marriage of a man of praetorian rank who had wed a woman just two days after her divorce, even though there was no suggestion of adultery. He imposed tariffs on imported foreign goods. He restricted the use of litters, as well as purple-bordered garments and pearls, to certain individuals and age groups and only on specific days. 

			He enforced sumptuary laws particularly strictly, posting guards around the market to seize and bring him any prohibited delicacies that were offered for sale and even, on occasion, sending lictors or soldiers to remove from people’s dining rooms any items that had escaped the notice of the guards.

			44. With each passing day, his plans for improving and beautifying the city and for the protection and security of the empire grew more numerous and enterprising. Chief among these was to build a Temple of Mars, bigger and more magnificent than any in existence, by filling in and levelling the lake where he had staged his naval spectacle; to erect an equally massive theatre against the slope of the Tarpeian Rock;57 to reduce civil law to a fixed framework, selecting from the immense and scattered body of statutes only the most essential which could be condensed into a few volumes; to establish the most extensive possible public Greek and Latin libraries, entrusting their organisation to Marcus Varro; to drain the Pontine Marshes; to drain the Fucine Lake; to construct a road from the Adriatic along the top of the Apennines to the Tiber; to cut a canal through the Isthmus of Corinth;58  to check the Dacians, who had poured into Pontus and Thrace; and finally, to wage war against the Parthians via a campaign in Armenia Minor, attacking only after he had first carefully assessed their ability to fight back. 

			But all these grand plans were cut short by his death. I will come to that in a moment, but first it might be appropriate to summarise his appearance, dress, habits, and character, as well as his civil and military pursuits.

			45. He is said to have been tall in stature, with a fair complexion, well-proportioned limbs, a slightly full face, and keen, dark eyes. He was in generally good health, although towards the end of his life, he was susceptible to sudden fainting spells and to nightmares. Twice during public business, he was struck by epileptic fits.59 He was very proud of his appearance, and the hair on his head was always neatly trimmed. His face was never anything other than clean-shaved, and the hair on his body was, much to the disapproval of some, freshly plucked. That he was balding upset him greatly and provided his detractors plenty of ammunition for jokes. As a result, he had a habit of combing his hair forward over the thinning part of his head and of all the honours that were voted him by the senate and people, none was more happily accepted or taken advantage of with more gusto than the right to wear a laurel wreath at all times. He was said to be a flashy dresser, and his broad striped senator’s tunic sported fringed sleeves down to the wrist. He wore a belt over the outside of it at a rakishly loose angle, which, it is claimed, prompted Sulla to warn the optimates that they should “beware the ill-girt boy.”60

			46. At first, he lived in a modest house in the Subura,61 but after he became Pontifex Maximus, he moved to the official residence on the Via Sacra. There are many stories that tell how devoted he was to luxury and fashion, and, on one occasion, whilst still struggling for cash and deeply in debt, he squandered a fortune on a villa that he built from the foundations up at Nemi and then, when he didn’t like it, had it flattened so he could start again. He would also take mosaics and slabs of marble with him on a campaign so that he could have a paved floor in his tent.

			47. It is said that he invaded Britain in the hope of finding pearls, which he could judge the value of by weighing them in his hand. He was an avid collector of precious gems, engraved silver, statues and paintings by old masters, for which he paid huge sums. He also spent extravagantly on attractive and well-educated slaves, so much so that he was ashamed of how much he spent and wouldn’t let such purchases be recorded in his accounts.

			48. He regularly hosted banquets in the provinces in two dining halls: one where his officers and Greek companions reclined in military cloaks and another where provincial elites dined in formal togas. In household matters, both trivial and serious, he ruled with such meticulous severity that he once shackled a baker for serving guests bread inferior to his own and executed a favoured freedman for adultery with a Roman knight’s wife, even though no formal complaint had been made.

			49. Nothing ever tarnished his reputation for sexual propriety apart from his supposed intimate association with Nicomedes, an accusation that followed him throughout his life and exposed him to universal mockery. I will pass quickly over the lines of Licinius Calvus: “Everything that Bithynia ever had -  and Caesar’s buggerer too”, not to mention the speeches made by Dolabella and the elder Curio in which Dolabella calls him “the queen’s concubine and bed-warmer of the royal litter” and Curio “Nicomedes’ brothel, the Bithynian whorehouse”). Neither will I tarry on the words of Bibulus, in which he calls his consular colleague the “queen of Bythinia” and claims that the man who once longed for a king now longs for a king’s power.

			There’s also a story from his first consulship, which Marcus Brutus retold when Caesar and Pompey were hailed by a man who was clearly a bit crazy and prone to shooting off his mouth who called Pompey “king” and Caesar “queen”. Apparently, Gaius Memmius used to say that Caesar had served as the royal cup-bearer and stood among Nicomedes’ other catamites at a great party attended by some Roman businessmen, and he named them, too.

			Cicero, who was not content with just writing that he had been led by courtiers into the royal bedchamber, lain on a golden couch dressed in purple and allowed the king to take the virginity of this descendant of Venus, once went even further and interrupted him in the senate, right in the middle of a speech he was giving defending Nysa, Nicomedes’ daughter, and was praising the king’s generosity toward him, snapping back: 

			“Spare us these details, I beg you! Everyone already knows what he gave you ... and what you gave him.”

			And, finally, during his Gallic triumph,  his soldiers, coming up with the usual ribald verses men like them were known for, marched behind his chariot singing this famous song:

			“Gaul bent to Caesar, and Caesar bent over for Nicomedes. Behold! Caesar now triumphs, who vanquished Gaul. But Nicomedes triumphs not, who vanquished Caesar!”

			50. Everyone can agree, however, that he had a voracious sexual appetite, which he submitted to regularly without any restraint. He seduced many notable noblewomen, including Postumia, the wife of Servius Sulpicius; Lollia, the wife of Aulus Gabinius; Tertulla, the wife of Marcus Crassus; and even Pompey’s wife, Mucia. For sure, both the elder and younger Curio, among others, were critical of Pompey for being so absorbed by political ambition that he was willing to abandon a wife who had borne him three children to marry the daughter of a man who he often referred to as “Aegisthus.”62

			But there was one woman who he loved more than any of the others and that was Servilia, the mother of Marcus Brutus. For her, during his first consulship, he bought a pearl worth six million sesterces, and during the civil war, beyond many other gifts, he sold her vast estates at auction for a token sum. When many marvelled at the low price, Cicero quipped: “A better bargain than you think - a third off!”63 The point of this joke was that Servilia was said to have pimped her daughter, Tertia, to Caesar.

			51. That he did not even refrain from seducing provincial wives is clear from this couplet chanted by his soldiers during his Gallic triumph:

			“Men of Rome, lock up your wives! We bring the bald adulterer home! All the gold you borrowed in Rome, you spent on girls in Gaul!”

			52. He even had affairs with foreign queens, including Eunoë, wife of King Bogudes of Mauretania, both of who, according to Naso,64 he showered with a plethora of gifts. But his greatest love was Cleopatra, with whom he would dine until dawn and even went on a luxurious cruise up the Nile, which would have gone all the way to Ethiopia had his legions not refused to follow him. Ultimately, he invited her to Rome and wouldn’t let her go home again until he had given her great honours and magnificent gifts and allowed her to give his name to the son she had borne. According to various Greek authors, this boy was the spitting image of Caesar in both his looks and his countenance. Mark Antony confirmed to the senate that he acknowledged the child as his own and that Gaius Matius, Gaius Oppius and the rest of Caesar’s friends all knew it, although Gaius Oppius himself later wrote that the boy was not Caesar’s son, even though Cleopatra claimed he was. 

			The tribune Helvius Cinna admitted to many that he had drafted, at Caesar’s request, a law allowing him to marry any woman (or women) he pleased, solely for the purpose of producing heirs.65 And lest any doubt remain about his shameless debauchery, the elder Curio once branded him in a speech as “every woman’s husband and every man’s wife.”

			53. Even his enemies could never accuse him of being a drunk. Marcus Cato once said that Caesar was the only man ever to try and overthrow the republic while sober.

			When it came to his eating habits, Gaius Oppius records his complete indifference. Once, when a host served rancid oil instead of fresh, and all the other guests refused it, Caesar made a point of tucking in with more gusto so that he wouldn’t appear to accuse his host of carelessness or bad manners.

			54. Whether as a magistrate in Rome or in command of the armies in the provinces, he failed to show any hint of scrupulous integrity. As certain men had recalled in their memoirs when he was a proconsul in Spain, he not only begged for money from his allies to help settle his debts, he plundered some towns in Lusitania even though they had neither refused his terms nor closed their gates to him. In Gaul, he stripped shrines and the temples of the gods of their offerings and, more often than not, sacked towns out of greed rather than because they deserved it. As a result, he ended up with more gold than he knew what to do with it and went around Italy and the provinces, exchanging it at a rate of three thousand sesterces a pound.66 

			In his first consulship, he stole three thousand pounds of gold from the Capitol and replaced it with the same weight in gilded bronze. He sold alliances and the right to thrones, extorting Ptolemy alone for 6,000 talents67 in his own name and that of Pompey. Later, he met the phenomenal cost of his civil wars and the triumphs and entertainments that went with them by the most shameless plunder and defilement.

			55. When it came to eloquence and military skill, he was the equal of the very best, if not their superior. Without a doubt, he was among the very finest advocates, as his prosecution of Dolabella can attest. Indeed, Cicero, in his ranking of the orators in his Brutus,68 says that he cannot think of anyone to whom Caesar was inferior and declared that his style was smart as well as transparent, even elegant and noble. And again, in a letter to Cornelius Nepos, he wrote of Caesar: 

			

			“Be honest. What other orator who devoted their lives to the art can you think of that was better? Who was wittier and could do it more consistently? Whose language was more perfectly judged or more beautifully constructed?”

			As a young man, he appears to have modelled his style on that of Caesar Strabo, and he even lifted some of the passages from Strabo’s For the Sardinians to use in an address during a trial of his own. They say he had a high-pitched voice and delivered his words with passionate and graceful movements.69 

			He left several speeches, including some that are attributed to him on somewhat shaky evidence. Augustus was probably right to claim that the speech For Quintus Metellus was taken down by shorthand writers who struggled to keep up with his pace, rather than published by Caesar himself, for in some copies I have seen, I found that the title is not For Metellus but Which He Wrote for Metellus, even though the discourse is said to be from Caesar himself defending Metellus and himself against the charges brought against them by their common enemies. Augustus also questions the authenticity of To His Soldiers in Spain, although there are two parts to it, one that was supposedly spoken at the first battle and the other at the second. Asinius Pollio claims that he couldn’t have made the second speech because he wouldn’t have had the time before the enemy launched a surprise attack.

			56. He also left his commentaries on the Gallic War and on the war against Pompey, although it isn’t immediately clear who wrote the accounts of the wars in Alexandria, Africa and Spain. Some claim it was Oppius, and others claim it was Hirtius, with the latter certainly being responsible for the last book of Gallic War, which Caesar had left unfinished. Cicero, in Brutus again, has this to say:

			“He wrote memoirs which are deserving of the highest praise; they are naked in their simplicity, straightforward yet graceful, stripped of all rhetorical adornment, as of a garment; but while his purpose was to supply material to others, on which those who wished to write history might draw, he happily gratified silly folk, who will try to use the curling-irons on his narrative, but he has kept men of any sense from touching the subject.”70

			When it comes to the same memoirs, Hirtius has similar praise:

			“They are so highly rated in the judgment of all men, that he seems to have deprived writers of an opportunity, rather than given them one; yet our admiration for this feat is greater than that of others; for they know how well and faultlessly he wrote, while we know besides how easily and rapidly he finished his task.”71

			Asinius Pollio, however, reckons that they were put together sloppily and without much regard for the truth since, in many cases, Caesar was far too keen to believe other people’s version of events and gave a twisted version of his own events, either through forgetfulness or on purpose, which he intended to revise and edit before he died.  He also left a work in two volumes called On Analogy, the same number of Speeches Criticising Cato, and a poem called The Journey. He wrote the first of these whilst he was crossing the Alps and returning to his army from Cisalpine Gaul, where he had been holding the assizes, the second around the time of the battle of Munda and the third over the course of a twenty-four-day journey from Rome to Hispania Ulterior. 

			Some of his letters to the senate are also preserved, and he seems to have had the idea of compiling them together in columns and then making them into the form of a notebook, where previously consuls and generals would write their reports right across the sheet.

			There are also some letters of his to Cicero as well as to his closest companions on private affairs. In the latter, if he had anything confidential to share, he would write it in a cypher, which means he would change the order of the letters of the alphabet so that nothing made any sense. If anyone wanted to decipher these to read the meaning, they had to substitute the fourth letter of the alphabet, so D for A and so on with all the others. We also have evidence of some writings from his childhood, such as Praises of Hercules, a tragedy called Oedipus and a Collection of Apophthegms. Augustus, however, banned the publication of all these lesser works in a very brief (and blunt) letter sent to Pompeius Macer, who had chosen to organise his libraries.

			57. He was highly skilled with weapons and on horseback and he had remarkable powers of endurance. On marches, he lead from the front, sometimes on horseback but more often on foot, bareheaded beneath the sun and the rain. He moved with incredible speed over considerable distances, covering a hundred miles a day in a hired carriage with little baggage to slow him down. He would ford rivers he came across, either swimming or floating with the aid of inflated skins and, more often than not, reach his destination before the messengers he had sent to announce his arrival.

			58. When it came to the way he conducted his campaigns, it’s an open question whether he was more cautious or more daring, for he never led his army where the potential for ambush was high without first scouting ahead and before he invaded Britain, he first scouted the harbours, the route and the approaches to the island.72 

			On the other hand, however, when news arrived that his camp in  Germany was under siege, he made his way through the enemy lines disguised as a Gaul. He ran the enemy naval blockade from Brundisium to Dyrrachium in the depths of winter. When the troops he ordered to follow him were reluctant to join him, and he had repeatedly failed to persuade them to cross, he set out in secret on his own, boarding a small boat with his head covered and not revealing who he was or forcing the helmsman to turn back in the face of the gale blowing in their face until the boat was nearly overwhelmed by the storm.

			59. He never allowed a concern for religion73 to deter him from any of his adventures, let alone slow him down for a moment. One time, though the victim he was trying to sacrifice managed to break free, he still went ahead with his campaign against Scipio and Juba. Even when he stumbled when disembarking from a ship, he turned the omen to his advantage by calling out, “I hold thee fast, Africa!” In addition, to ridicule the prophecies that predicted a Scipio would never be defeated in the province and would always experience great fortune there, he kept in his camp a particularly unpleasant man who was a member of the Cornelian clan, a man so debauched in his behaviour that they called him “Salvito.”74

			60. Sometimes, he would plan a battle carefully in advance, and sometimes, he would fight them as and when the opportunity arose, often as soon as a march had ended and even when the weather was so vile that the enemy could never have expected him to launch an attack. Only right at the end of his career would he hold back before attacking an enemy, reasoning that the more he had won over the years, the less he should tempt fate and what he gained in victory could never outweigh what he stood to lose should he suffer a defeat.

			When he had routed an army, he would make a point of taking their camp so as to deny them a rallying point. If the outcome of a battle ever hung in the balance, he would send away the horses, including his own, so that he and his men were deprived of a means of escape and would have no choice but to stand their ground.

			61. He rode an incredible horse, too, with hooves that were almost human and cloven in such a way as to appear as if it had toes. It was born on his own estate, and, as the soothsayers declared that whoever rode it would also rule the world, he reared it himself with the most excellent care and was the first to break it, for it would not allow anyone else to mount it. Afterwards, he dedicated a statue of it in the temple of Venus Genetrix.

			62. If his army wavered in battle, he would stand on the field and rally them single-handed, putting himself in the way of fleeing men, grabbing them by the throat and spinning them around to face the enemy. Once, when his men were in full flight, an eagle-bearer tried to fight him off with the point of his standard75 as he tried to stop him, and another threw the standard into Caesar’s arms and ran away.

			63. His ability to think clearly and act with the presence of mind was no less remarkable. After the Battle of Pharsalus, he sent his forces into Asia ahead of him and was following across the Hellespont in a small transport ship when he ran into a fleet of ten enemy warships under the command of Lucius Cassius. Instead of turning around and making a break for safety, he approached Cassius’ ship headlong and urged him to surrender. Cassius sued for mercy and was taken on board.

			64. At Alexandria, while leading an assault across a bridge, a sudden counter-attack by the enemy drove him off the bridge and into a small skiff. When all his men followed him onto the tiny boat, he jumped into the sea and swam two hundred yards to safety, all the while holding up his left hand to keep his order papers dry and holding his cloak in his teeth so the enemy wouldn’t be able to claim it as a trophy.76

			65. He valued his soldiers neither for their character nor their social standing, but purely for their ability as warriors, and he treated them with equal amounts of strictness and leniency. He didn’t impose a strict regime at all times and places, just when the enemy was close by. When the enemy was at hand, he kept the strictest regime and would not announce beforehand the time of a march or a battle, but kept them on their toes and ready to go at a moment’s notice whenever he demanded. He would often surprise them when it seemed like there was no need for it, especially on days when the weather was foul, or it was a feast day. He would warn them to keep an eye on him at all times and then suddenly shoot off any time, night or day, on a longer march than usual, hoping to tire out anyone who was slow to follow.

			66. Should the troops ever start to worry when they heard reports of the enemy’s strength, he would neither deny the reports nor try to soothe their concerns but instead exaggerate the intelligence so that, for instance, the dread they felt on the approach of Juba’s forces prompted him to summon them and address them thus: “Listen to me. In a few day’s time, the king will be on us with ten legions, thirty thousand horses, one hundred thousand auxiliaries and three hundred elephants. So stop grumbling. You can count on me to have the correct information, and I will put anyone who questions it in the worst boat we can find and cast them off to be carried by the wind to whatever pitiful country will take him!”

			67. He would not  punish every transgression nor enforce the rules ruthlessly, shutting his eyes to most things except when it came to mutiny and desertion. Sometimes, after a great victory, he would give them free rein, relieve them of all duties and allow them to enjoy themselves, being in the habit of boasting that his men could fight just as well when they were reeking of perfume. In assemblies, he would address them as “comrades” rather than “soldiers” and he kept them looking magnificent, furnishing them with armour and weapons inlaid with gold and silver trim, both for show and to make them fight harder to keep their equipment in battle. He loved his men so much that when he heard of the defeat of Titurius, 77he let his hair and beard grow and vowed that he wouldn’t trim them again until he had taken vengeance.

			68. In this way, he made them utterly loyal to him and remarkably brave. At the start of the war, each centurion proposed to sponsor the cost of a cavalryman from their own savings and all of the soldiers, as one, volunteered to fight without pay or rations, with the richest among them funding the care of the poorest. In the whole course of the war, not one of them deserted and many of them, on being taken prisoner, refused to accept being spared their lives on condition that they turn and serve against Caesar. They endured hunger and other hardships, both when under siege and besieging others, with such fortitude that when Pompey saw them surviving on a type of bread made from grass during the siege at Dyrrachium, he declared that he was fighting animals, not men and ordered that it be hidden from his own men so that their resolve wouldn’t be broken by the evidence of their enemy’s power of stamina and perseverance. The extent to which their formidable power as a fighting machine can be demonstrated also occurred at Dyrrachium, when, after they had lost a skirmish, they volunteered to be punished for it. Caesar, rather than discipline them, decided to console them instead. In other battles, they overcame forces of much greater strength with relative ease. On one occasion, a single cohort of the sixth legion defended a redoubt against four legions of Pompey’s men for hours, even though nearly all of them were wounded by shower upon shower of the enemy’s arrows. In the end, one hundred and thirty thousand enemy arrows were found within the ramparts. 

			And no wonder they were so formidable when one considers the actions of some individual soldiers in their ranks, such as the centurion Cassius Scaeva or the infantryman Gaius Acilius, among many others. Scaeva, despite losing an eye and wounds in his thigh and shoulder and his shield pierced one hundred and twenty times, held the gate of a fortress he was tasked with commanding. Acilius, in the naval battle at Massilia, grabbed the rudder of an enemy ship, and when his right hand was hacked off, rivalling the exploits of the Greek hero Cynegirus,78 boarded the ship and smashed through the enemy, felling them with his shield boss.

			69. Never once in all the ten years of the Gallic War did his men mutiny. Even during the civil wars, it happened occasionally, but they quickly resumed their duties, not so much because Caesar indulged them but because of the authority he held over them. He never gave them an inch when they were insubordinate but always faced them head-on, once discharging the entire ninth legion in disgrace at Placentia,79 even though Pompey was still on the field. They begged him to be reinstated, and he only did so unwillingly, after many pitiful appeals and after he had punished the ringleaders.

			70. When the tenth legion, camped outside Rome, threatened to rampage through the city unless they were discharged and also given their reward, even though the war was still raging in Africa, he wasted no time in calling them to assembly, against the advice of all his friends, and discharging. He stood before them and, with a single word, shamed them and brought them to heel, for he called them “citizens” instead of “soldiers.” Mortified, they immediately replied that they were his “soldiers” and insisted on following him to Africa, disregarding that they had been dismissed. Even then, he punished the ringleaders by denying them a third of their booty and the land they had been promised.

			71. Even from an early age, he was always caring and loyal to his dependants. He defended with such passion Masintha, a young man of noble birth, in his disagreement with King Hiempsal that he caught the king’s son, Juba, by the beard. When Masintha was commanded to pay tribute to the king, he whisked him away from the people sent to arrest him and hid him in his own house for some time. When he finally set off for Spain after his praetorship, he hid the young man in his litter, unseen amid the crowd who had come to wish him well and the lictors with their fasces.

			72. He always treated his friends with such generosity and kindness that once, while he was travelling through a forest with Gaius Oppius, who was suddenly taken ill, he gave up the only available shelter to him and slept on the ground beneath the stars. Even once he was in power, he continued with this attitude. He promoted some people of the lowest social class to the highest honours, and when he was criticised for this, he openly declared that he would have done the same for thugs and murderers if they had helped him in the same manner.

			73. He never held on to a grudge so bitterly that he wouldn’t willingly let it go if the chance arose. Gaius Memmius attacked him with some vicious rants, to which he responded in kind, but this didn’t stop him from supporting his rival as a candidate for the consulship. Gaius Calvus, after writing scandalous epigrams about him, tried to reconcile through mutual friends, and Caesar took the first step and wrote back to him. As for Catullus, when his poems about Mamurra caused serious and lasting damage to Caesar’s reputation (something Caesar had not chosen to ignore), Catullus apologised for writing them, and Caesar invited him to dinner that same evening. After that, he continued to enjoy the company of the poet’s father, as he had before.

			74. Even in vengeance, he was, by nature, able to show mercy. When he had caught the pirates who had captured him,80 and since he had previously sworn that he would crucify them, he went ahead with the threat but first ordered that their throats be cut in order to lessen their suffering. He didn’t do any harm to Cornelius Phagites, whose nighttime ambush he had once barely escaped when he was sick and in hiding, having paid a bribe to avoid being revealed to Sulla.81 He also punished Philemon, a slave from his own household who had promised his enemies that he would poison him with nothing more severe than a simple death. Summoned as a witness against Publius Clodius on a charge of adultery with his wife and the violation of sacred rites,82 he said that he had discovered nothing, even though his mother Aurelia and sister Julia had already testified fully and under oath before the same judges. When he was asked why, then, he had divorced his wife if there was no evidence of wrongdoing, he replied, “Because my family should not only be free of guilt, but free of suspicion.”

			75. He showed admirable restraint and mercy in both his conduct during the civil war and after it in victory. Whilst Pompey declared that he would treat everyone who failed the republic as an enemy, Caesar announced that those who had taken neither side would be counted as his friends. He freely allowed all those he had promoted to the rank of centurion on Pompey’s recommendation to go over to his rival’s side. When terms of surrender were being arranged at Ilerda, and Afranius and Petreius, after lengthy discussions between the two sides, suddenly changed their minds and killed some of Caesar’s men caught within their camp, Caesar chose not to return the treachery in kind.

			At the Battle of Pharsalus, he ordered that Roman citizens be spared and afterwards allowed each of his men to save one man from the opposing side if they so wished. Nobody was found to have been killed except in battle, apart from Afranius, Faustus and the young Lucius Caesar, and even these, so it is believed, were not killed at his command. The first two had rebelled again after receiving pardons, and Lucius Caesar had not only slaughtered his freedmen and slaves in the most savage way, hacking them to death and burning the remains but had even butchered the wild beasts that had been assembled ready for the public entertainments.

			Finally, when the war was over, he even allowed those whom he had not yet pardoned to return to Italy and to hold magistracies and commands. He restored the statues of Lucius Sulla and Pompey that the crowds had earlier torn down and smashed, and if, after that, anything serious was ever said or plotted against him, he preferred to suppress it rather than punish it. Thus, when conspiracies and clandestine nighttime meetings were uncovered, he did nothing more than issue an edict saying that he knew what they were up to. When people spoke bitterly of him, he simply gave them a public warning not to carry on doing it. Even when Aulus Caecina tore apart his reputation in a libellous book and in a scurrilous poem by Pitholaus, he bore it with calm patience.

			76. Nevertheless, the rest of his actions and words outweigh all the good points so that he is considered to have abused his power and to have deserved to have been killed. Not only did he accept an excessive amount of honours: the consulship in continuous succession, the dictatorship for life, responsibility for the regulation of public morality, the label of imperator as a forename, the cognomen of “Father of His Country,” a statue to be placed among those of the kings, a golden throne in the senate and in judgement, a triumphal chariot and litter in the circus processions, temples, altars, images placed among the gods, a sacred couch a priesthood in his name, the Luperci reformed in his honour and a month named after him. He accepted and gave every kind of honour - anything he desired - whether for himself or others, as he saw fit. He held his third and fourth consulships in name only, content with the power of the dictatorship that was decreed alongside the consulships and in both years, he substituted pairs of consuls for himself for the final three months of each term, held no elections apart from the ones for the tribunes of the plebs and the aediles, and gave prefects rather than praetors the duty of running the city when he wasn’t there. When one of the consuls died suddenly the day before the Kalends of January, he gave the office for a few hours to a man who had requested it.

			With the same disdain for tradition, he appointed magistrates for several years in advance, granted consular honours to ten men who held praetorian rank, admitted to the senate some who had barely been citizens for a few months and some of them were even barely civilised, half-barbarian Gauls! He put his own slaves in charge of the mint and of collecting the public revenues and the command of the three legions he left behind in Alexandria, he handed over to Rufio, the son of his freedman and his favourite catamite!

			77. Neither did his public statements hide his outrageous arrogance, such as, Titus Ampius records, when he claimed that the republic was nothing - just a name without any shape or form, or that Sulla had been politically inept for giving up the dictatorship, that men should now speak to him with more respect and treat everything he said as if it were law. He carried this arrogance so far that once, when a seer had reported unfavourable omens in an animal’s entrails, reporting that they lacked a heart, he said that the future would be fine simply because he said it would, and that it should not be taken as an ominous sign that an animal lacked a heart.83

			78. There was one incident, however, that provoked widespread bitterness and probably served more than any other to seal his fate. When the entire senate approached him with numerous fabulous honours, he received them whilst seated before the temple of Venus Genetrix and did not rise to meet them. Some think that Cornelius Balbus put a hand on his shoulder when he tried to rise, and others say that he made no attempt to stand at all and even glowered at Gaius Trebatius, who urged him to stand, cowing him into silence.

			This act was considered all the more intolerable because he had once become absolutely outraged during a triumph when one man from the college of the tribunes, Pontius Aquila, did not stand as he passed by their benches and bellowed at him: “Come on then, Aquila! Come and take the republic back from me!” Then, for days afterwards, he would never promise anything to anyone without adding, sarcastically, “That is, if Pontius Aquila doesn’t mind...”

			79. To this conspicuous insult to the senate’s authority, he added an even more arrogant act, for when he was returning from the Latin festival, amid the extravagant and unheard-of cheering of the crowds, one man from the crowd stepped forward and placed a laurel wreath bound with a white ribbon84 on his statue. When the tribunes of the plebs, Epidius Marullus and Caesetius Flavus, order the ribbon removed from the crown and the man dragged off to prison, he rebuked the tribunes and stripped them of office, offended, it was said, either because the suggestion of kingship had gone down badly or because he had been denied the opportunity to refuse it himself publicly. Yet even so, he was unable to shake off the public suspicion that he craved royal power, even when someone from the crowd greeted him as “king” and he replied that he was a Caesar, not a king, and at the Lupercalia85 when the consul Antony tried, repeatedly, to place a diadem on his head at the rostra. He pushed it away and instead sent it to the temple of Jupiter Optimus Maximus on the Capitol.

			Nevertheless, rumours continued to spread that he planned to move to Alexandria or Troy and take all the wealth of Rome with him, draining Italy of her power through conscriptions and leaving the city in the hands of his lackeys. Moreover, it was reported that at the next senate meeting, Lucius Cotta, one of the Board of Fifteen,86 would announce that as it had been discovered among  the Sibylline Books that the Parthians could only be defeated by a king, Caesar should be given that title.

			80. This was the reason the conspirators gave for hastening their plans - to avoid being forced to give their assent to such a proposal. Therefore, meetings that had previously been held in scattered groups of two or three were now consolidated into a single, unified effort. The public was no longer happy with the state of affairs, and both openly and in secret, people were rejecting the tyranny and demanding those responsible be removed. A pamphlet was circulated mocking the enrolment of barbarians into the senate: “Well done!” it read, “Let nobody be so kind as to show one of the new senators the way to the Curia!” And the following song was sung in the streets:

			“Caesar led the Gauls in triumph, and now he leads them into the senate. The Gauls have taken off their trousers and donned the purple stripe!”

			When Quintus Maximus was appointed consul to fill the remaining three months and entered the theatre, the lictor, as was customary, announced him to the crowd, who all replied as one that he was not a real consul.87 After Caesetius and Marullus were removed from office as tribunes, people still voted for them in the next election. Someone scrawled under the statue of Lucius Brutus,88 “If only you were still alive!” And beneath Caesar’s statue, they wrote:

			“Brutus, who drove out the kings, became the first consul: This man, who drove out the consuls, became a king at last.”

			More than sixty people joined the final conspiracy against Caesar, with Gaius Cassius, Marcus Brutus and Decimus Brutus as the leaders. At first, they debated whether to kill him in the Campus Martius, as he summoned the tribes to vote, dividing into two groups and hurling him from the bridge89 and then stabbing him once he had fallen. Or perhaps they should ambush him on the Via Sacra or at the entrance to the theatre. However, once it was announced that the senate would meet on the Ides of March in the Curia of Pompey,90 they realised they had both the ideal time and the perfect place to strike.

			

			81. The omens clearly foreshadowed Caesar’s impending murder. Only a few months earlier, in the colony at Capua, the settlers brought there under the Julian Law were excavating ancient tombs to build villas on the site, and they were digging with some enthusiasm because they kept finding ancient vases of spectacular craftsmanship. Among the artefacts, they uncovered a bronze tablet in the tomb that was said to have been the burial chamber of Capys, the legendary founder of Capua. It was inscribed with Greek letters and contained a prophecy that read: “Whenever the bones of Capys shall be uncovered, one of his descendants shall be killed at the hands of his kin and soon avenged with great destruction across the land.” If anyone thinks that this story isn’t true, it is attested by Cornelius Balbus, one of Caesar’s closest friends. 

			In the days before the assassination, Caesar learned that the herds of horses he had consecrated on crossing the Rubicon and which he had allowed to roam free on his estate were now refusing to graze and had begun weeping profusely. During a sacrifice, the haruspex91 Spurinna warned him to beware of the danger which would not extend beyond the Ides of March. On the day before those same Ides, a small kingbird92 carrying a laurel twig in its beak flew into the Curia, where it was attacked by a group of other birds from a nearby grove, who tore it to pieces. 

			On the night before his murder, Caesar dreamed that he was flying above the clouds one moment and grasping the hand of Jupiter the next. His wife, Calpurnia, imagined in her dream that the pediment93 of their house had collapsed and that her husband lay, stabbed, in her arms. At that, the bedroom doors were flung open as if by an unseen hand. Because of these omens and his ill health, he hesitated for a long while, pondering if it were wiser to stay home and postpone the business he had planned to conduct in the senate. But Decimus Brutus persuaded him that an expectant crowd had been waiting for him for some time, and he shouldn’t disappoint them. At around the fifth hour,94 he finally set out, and when a man ran up to him in the street and handed him a note warning of the impending attack, he added it to the other petitions he held in his left hand, intending to read it later. 

			Then, after sacrificing many animals but being unable to obtain favourable omens, he entered the Curia, brushing off the portents and dismissing Spurinna as a fraud, mocking him that the Ides of March had come and he was completely unharmed. Spurinna replied that the Ides had, indeed, come. But they had not yet passed.

			82. When he was sitting down, the conspirators gathered around him in a circle, pretending to pay their respects. Tillius Cimber, who had taken the leading role, approached him as if he were going to ask a question, and when Caesar waved him away as if he had no interest in hearing what was being asked, Cimber grabbed his toga by both shoulders. “Why! This is violence!” cried Caesar, and at that point, one of the Casca brothers stabbed him from behind, just below the throat. 

			He grabbed Casca’s arm, drove his stylus95 into it, and attempted to stand up. But he was hit with another blow, and at that point, he realised that he was under attack from all sides with drawn daggers. He threw the toga over his head and pulled down its folds over his legs with his left hand so that when he fell, he would not expose the lower part of his body and die with some dignity. 

			Like this, he was stabbed some twenty-three times, but only after the first blow did he utter a sound, a groan without words. Some have claimed, however, that when Marcus Brutus came at him with a dagger drawn, he said, “Kai su, teknon?”96 in Greek. 

			As all the conspirators fled, his lifeless body lay there for some time until three of his slaves placed it on a litter and carried him home, one of his arms dangling lifelessly from the side. Of all the wounds he was struck with, according to the physician Antistius, none of them were fatal apart from the second one, which pierced his chest. 

			They had initially intended to drag his corpse to the Tiber and throw him in, then confiscate his property and annul all of his acts, but they were terrified of Mark Antony, the consul and of Lepidus, the master of horse, and so abandoned those plans.

			83. At the request of his father-in-law, Lucius Piso, his will was opened and read aloud at Mark Antony’s house. He had written it the previous Ides of September at his estate near Lavicum and entrusted it into the care of the chief Vestal. We know from Quintus Tubero that it had been his custom from the time of his first consulship until the start of the civil war to name Pompey as his heir, and that this had been read aloud to his troops at a public assembly. But in his final will, he appointed three heirs, his sister’s grandsons, Gaius Octavius,97 who was to receive three-quarters of the estate, and Lucius Pinarius and Quintus Pedius, who were to share the remaining quarter. At the end of the testament, he also formally adopted Gaius Octavius into his family and gave him his name. Many of those who had been his assassins were also named as guardians to his son, at least if he would have had any in the future, while Decimus Brutus had even been named among the heirs of the second rank.98 To the Roman people, he left his gardens beside the Tiber and three hundred sesterces per person.

			84. After the funeral was announced, a pyre was built on the Campus Martius near the tomb of Julia, and before the rostra, a golden shrine resembling the temple of Venus Genetrix was set up. Inside it was an ivory couch adorned with gold and purple, and at its head was a pedestal draped with the clothes he had been wearing when he was murdered. Because so many people brought offerings that it wouldn’t be possible to accept them all in one day, an order was given to abandon any formal procession, and people were told to carry their gifts to the field by any means possible and via any route they wished. During the funeral games, songs were sung that evoked grief and resentment at his killing, including some that were from Pacuvius’ Judgement of the Arms - “Did I save them, only for them to destroy me?” and another from Atilius’ Electra expressing similar emotions. In place of a formal eulogy, Mark Antony had a herald read aloud the decree of the senate, which granted Caesar every possible divine and human honour, as well as the oath sworn to protect his life. To this, he added but a few words of his own. The bier was carried from the rostra by magistrates and former magistrates into the Forum, where some proposed to cremate him in the Temple of Jupiter on the Capitol and others in the Curia of Pompey, but then, suddenly, two huge figures99 dressed as gladiators armed with swords and javelins stepped forward and lit the pyre with torches. Immediately, the crowd piled on dry wood, benches, the stage on which the magistrate had been seated and anything else they could find. Then the musicians who had been dressed in garments from Caesar’s triumphs for the funeral processions tore them from their own bodies and cast them into the flames. Veterans from the legions threw in their arms, which they had worn to honour the deceased. Women threw in their jewellery and their children’s amulets and ceremonial togas. At the height of the public grief, crowds of foreigners gathered to lament him, each in their own manner, none more so than the Jews,100 who kept vigil around the pyre for several nights in a row.
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